## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-761

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 89-495

MARK ALLEN GERALDS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857 McClain & McDermott, P.A. 141 N.E. 30<sup>th</sup> Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (850) 322-2172

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 15, 1989, Mr. Geralds was indicted with one count of first degree murder, armed robbery and grand theft (R. 2232). Mr. Geralds' was convicted on all counts and the jury recommended death, by a vote of 8 to 4 (R. 2187). The trial court sentenced Mr. Geralds to death. On direct appeal, a re-sentencing was ordered. Geralds v. State, 601 So. 2d 1157 (Fla. 1992).

At his re-sentencing, a new jury recommended death. The judge imposed a death sentence. On appeal, this Court affirmed. Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1996). Mr. Geralds filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court, which was denied on October 7, 1996. Geralds v. Florida, 117 S. Ct. 230 (1996).

On April 22, 1997, Mr. Geralds began the postconviction process, filing public records requests pursuant to former Rule 3.852. In 1998, this Court promulgated a new rule concerning public records and Mr. Geralds spent the next few years litigating his records requests under Rule 3.852(h)(2) and (i).

After the lower court determined that the public records process had concluded, Mr. Geralds timely filed his Amended Motion to Vacate in January, 2001 (PC-R. 993-1203).

After a <u>Huff</u> hearing, the lower court granted a limited evidentiary hearing and summarily denied most of Mr. Geralds' claims.

An evidentiary hearing was held on September 23 and 24, 2003, and February 25, 2004.

At the February hearing, during the testimony of the trial prosecutor, it became obvious that while Mr. Geralds had requested the State's file under the various public records provisions, the complete file had not been produced. After bringing the matter to the Court's attention, counsel requested that she be allowed to conduct a thorough review of the file (PC-R. 2721). The Court granted the oral motion (PC-R. 2724).

Following the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Geralds received a full bankers box of records from the Florida Department of State Bureau of Archives and Records Management. The records were accompanied by a letter explaining that the records had not been previously sent to collateral counsel, though requested, due to an oversight. The records originated from the Office of the State Attorney from the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit and concerned the prosecution of Mr. Geralds for the crimes at issue.

Based on the records, Mr. Geralds filed supplements to his amended Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 1447-79, 1610-26). The lower court denied Mr. Geralds an evidentiary hearing on his supplemental claims (PC-R. 1528-36, 1642-3).

Closing arguments were submitted in late, 2005, after which the lower court denied all relief on January 18, 2006

(PC-R. 1737-54). Thereafter, a motion for rehearing was filed (PC-R. 1756-62), which the lower court denied (PC-R. 1809).

Mr. Geralds timely filed a notice of appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. THE PROSECUTION'S THEORY OF THE CASE AT TRIAL

At trial, the prosecution's theory of the case was clear: Mr. Geralds, individually, planned to burglarize the victim's house. Upon breaking into the victim's home, by himself, he found the victim at home, beat her, tied her up and killed her. He stole jewelry and the victim's purse. He left the crime scene in the victim's car and abandoned it at the Cherry Street School. Later that day, he took a shower at his grandfather's house, gave Vicky Ward the victim's sunglasses and pawned the victim's gold herringbone necklace. Mr. Geralds acted on his own.

In order to support the theory, the prosecution presented the following at trial: A week before the crimes, the victim and her children ran into Mr. Geralds at the mall (R. 1466, 1479). The victim spoke to Mr. Geralds and told him that her husband was out of town (R. 1480). Thereafter, Mr. Geralds spoke to the victim's son, Bart, in the arcade (R. 1468). According to Bart, Mr. Geralds asked him questions about when his father planned to return<sup>1</sup> and what time Bart went to school (R. 1469).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Bart testified that he told Mr. Geralds he did not know when his father planned to return from out of town.

The morning of the crimes, the victim drove her daughter, Blythe, to school just after 7:00 a.m. (R. 1489). Bart left for school at approximately 8:00 a.m. (R. 1471)

The victim's friend, Kelly Stracener spoke to the victim at approximately 9:00 a.m., for about ten minutes (R. 1417).

Mrs. Stracener attempted to call the victim's home at 10:30 a.m., but there was no answer (R. 1417). So, Mrs. Stracener drove to the victim's home and arrived shortly before 11:00 a.m. (Id.). However, the victim's car was not in the driveway (Id.). A few minutes later, Mrs. Stracener came upon the victim's car which was parked at the elementary school (R. 1419).

Later that day, Mrs. Stracener received a phone call from Blythe, who explained that her mother had not picked her up from school (R. 1420). Mrs. Stracener picked up Blythe (R. 1422).

When Mrs. Stracener and Blythe arrived at the Pettibone home, Bart appeared at the door crying (R. 1424). Mrs. Stracener entered the house and found Mrs. Pettibone on the kitchen floor surrounded by a great deal of blood (R. 1426).

It was not long before crime scene personnel from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) arrived to photograph and collect evidence from the scene. Much blood was splattered throughout the kitchen, though pictures and furniture were out of place in the hallway and dining room (R. 1543-6). FDLE Analyst Jan Johnson testified that the blood

spatter indicated that there was a struggle between the victim and her assailant (R. 1636). Indeed, Analyst Johnson testified as to her opinion that a struggle began in the kitchen, near a desk and continued to the point where the victim was kneeling on the floor somewhere between the dining room and kitchen, until finally the victim was laying on the kitchen floor (R. 1642). Thereafter, the victim's body was dragged across the floor (R. 1640). A bloody knife was found in the kitchen sink - it belonged to the Pettibones (R. 1546). A path of bloody footprints was detected through the house (R. 1562). FDLE Analyst Laura Rousseau testified that the shoe tracks appeared to be consistent with only "one shoe tread design" (R. 1619).

The autopsy revealed ten areas of blunt trauma to the victim's body (R. 1836), and three stab wounds to the neck. The cause of death was determined to be exsanguniation ( $\underline{\text{Id}}$ .).

As to Mr. Geralds' whereabouts on February 1, 1989, the prosecution presented evidence that Mr. Geralds went by his grandfather's house at approximately 11:30 a.m. and told his grandfather that he had been working on a boat (R. 1673). Mr. Geralds wore racing gloves — where the backs and fingers were not covered (R. 1675). Mr Geralds took a shower at his grandfather's house and left about an hour later (Id.).

Vicky Ward recalled that sometime at the end of January or early February, Mark Geralds visited her at work and gave her some red sunglasses (R. 1685). Mr. Geralds was replacing

a pair of bluish Bucci sunglasses that Ms. Ward had borrowed from him, but since she preferred red, he exchanged them for her (R. 1686).

According to Billy Danford, Mr. Geralds pawned a 24 inch herringbone necklace on February 1, 1989, at 2:00 p.m. for \$30.00 (R. 1753, 1758). Mr. Danford testified that Mr. Geralds asked him whether the chain was real (R. 1757).

In the days following the crimes, the victim's family attempted to identify items that were missing from the house (R. 1492-3). At trial, a pair of red Bucci sunglasses and a herringbone necklace were identified as the victim's (R. 1432-3, 1495-6, 1515). Blythe testified that she was "positive" that the sunglasses introduced at trial belonged to her mother (R. 1515), and that the herringbone necklace introduced at trial was "identical" to the one her mother wore (R. 1495). Mr. Pettibone, the victim's husband, also identified the necklace (R. 1525).

On March 1, 1989, Mr. Geralds was arrested. Mr. Geralds consented to the search of his motel room and automobile. During the search of his motel room, the police retrieved a pair of Nike sneakers (R. 1711). Analyst Rousseau testified that she conducted a presumptive test for blood on Mr. Geralds' shoes and a small area on his left shoe tested

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ In closing argument, the prosecutor argued that Mr. Geralds did not know whether the chain was real because he had stolen it from the victim (R. 2056).

positive (R. 1721). On cross examination, defense counsel asked Analyst Rousseau:

Q: To your knowledge was any further testing done with regard to those items in front of you?

A: Not to my knowledge, I don't know, I have not seen the shoes since then.

(R. 1722-3). Also, FDLE Analyst Kenneth Hoag testified that he compared some of the shoe impressions from the crime scene to Mr. Geralds' shoes and those shoes "could have made the tracks" at the scene (R. 1728). However, Analyst Hoag found no "individual characteristics within the patterns" at the crime scene (Id.).

During the search of Mr. Geralds' automobile, the police retrieved some plastic ties. Clifford Hutchinson testified that the ties found in Mr. Geralds' automobile as well as one of the ties found at the scene were Thomas Industries ties (R. 1701-2).

Later that day, after obtaining a pawn receipt from Mr. Geralds' wallet, a herringbone chain was retrieved from a pawn shop (R. 1745). There appeared to be blood on the necklace (R. 1750). FDLE Analyst Shirley Ziegler testified that the substance on the chain was blood and it was consistent with the victim's blood type and 5 enzymes (R. 1784).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>No DNA testing was conducted on the necklace. Prior to his trial, Mr. Geralds requested that DNA analysis be conducted on the necklace, but the State represented that the sample was too limited for DNA testing (R. 2).

Following Mr. Geralds' arrest for murder, the jury heard that he escaped from the Bay County Jail two weeks before his trial commenced (R. 1895).

Trial counsel did not present any evidence.

The jury convicted Mr. Geralds as charged and the following day, a brief penalty phase occurred and the jury recommended death. Mr. Geralds was sentenced to death.

On appeal, this Court vacated the death sentence and remanded for a new sentencing proceeding due to the prosecutor's improper references to Mr. Geralds' prior non-violent convictions. Geralds v. State, 601 So. 2d 1157, 1162 (Fla. 1992). After vacating Mr. Geralds' death sentence, this Court also struck the aggravators that the crime was committed to avoid arrest and that the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. Id. at 1164.

At the re-sentencing proceeding, during his opening statement, trial counsel promised the jury that they would "learn and . . . hear that Mark Geralds is not the person that killed Tressa Pettibone." (R2. 336).

In the prosecution's case-in-chief, many of the same witnesses were called who had previously testified at the original trial. However, the prosecution also presented the extensive testimony of Investigator Bob Jimmerson. Inv. Jimmerson testified on behalf of several other witnesses including Analyst Rousseau, Clifford Hutchinson, Douglas Freeman, Vicky Ward and others. He told the jury that his

testimony was based on previous testimony, reports and what he had been told.

Indeed, Inv. Jimmerson unequivocally testified that the ties used to bind the victim's hands and the ties found in Mr. Geralds' automobile were Thomas Industry ties and that only 30,000-40,000 of those ties were produced a year (R2. 380, 403-4); that the shoe treads from Mr. Geralds' Nike shoes were the "particular tracks" he saw in the Pettibone home (R2. 402); that Mr. Geralds' grandfather saw Mr. Geralds' wearing gloves when he arrived at his home on February 1, 1989 (R2. 409); that Mr. Geralds was not working on a fiberglass boat on February 1, 1989 (R2. 409); that Mr. Geralds had taken a pair of red Bucci sunglasses to Vicky Ward on February 1, 1989 (R2. 410); that presumptive testing occurred on Mr. Geralds' Nike shoes and that the test indicated blood on the left shoe (R2. 413-4).

Inv. Jimmerson was also questioned about William Pelton, and he told the jury that he had confirmed Pelton's alibi for February 1, 1989 (R2. 421, 443). And, that there was no indication from the crime scene that more than one person was involved in the crime (R2. 441).

Rather than call Dr. Sybers, the medical examiner who testified in Mr. Geralds' trial and who conducted the autopsy, the prosecution presented the testimony of Dr. James Laurdison. Dr. Laurdison's testimony concerning cause and manner of death were consistent with Dr. Syber's findings.

However, Dr. Laurdison's testimony differed as to the number of blunt force injuries - he estimated between 10 and 15 (R2. 547). He believed the injuries were made by a fist or by a foot (R2. 564).

The prosecution also presented the testimony of Blythe and Bart Pettibone and read the jury the testimony of Ward and Danford. Defense counsel did not cross-examine Blythe and he requested that the prosecution not read the cross examination of Ward or Danford from the original trial.

In mitigation, trial counsel presented the testimony of Mr. Geralds' friend, Scott Hobbs who told the jury that Mr. Geralds was non-violent (R2. 626). Mr. Hobbs also discussed a time when his parents divorced and Mr. Geralds tried to take his mind off of his family problems (R2. 625). Mr. Geralds' former employer, Don Harlan testified that Mr. Geralds was a good worker (R2. 873). Mr. Harlan also briefly described that Mr. Geralds' changed after his parents divorced (R2. 675-6).

James Beller testified that he met with Mr. Geralds for a clinical interview and also administered a few tests to him (R2. 736). Based on the testing and interview, Mr. Beller diagnosed Mr. Geralds with bi-polar disorder and anti-social personality disorder (R2. 738). Mr. Beller also believed that Mr. Geralds was depressed from a young age (R2. 743).

Mr. Geralds testified and explained that he and his wife divorced because of the difficulties she had in being associated with him (R2. 699). Mr. Geralds also told the jury

that his parents had divorced when he was 15 years old (R2. 702). Mr. Geralds explained that at this time in his life it was very difficult and he got involved with a bad crowd (R2. 704-5).

Mr. Geralds told the jury that his ex-wife and daughter were threatened by Pelton (R2. 710). Specifically, Pelton told his ex-wife that "if Mark says anything to the police . . . something is going to happen to you and Jordan" (Id.).

McGowan delivered a similar message to Mr. Geralds' ex-wife (R2. 711).

Finally, Mr. Geralds denied killing the victim (R2. 717).

Trial counsel also presented the testimony of Pelton.

Pelton knew Mr. Geralds for several years, but denied having anything to do with the crimes (R2. 656). Pelton also denied threatening Mr. Geralds' family (R2. 643). Likewise, McGowan denied having made threats to Mr. Geralds' ex-wife (R2. 667).

The jury recommended the death penalty (R2. 858), and the trial court sentenced Mr. Geralds to death, finding three aggravators: the crime was committed in the course of a robbery or burglary; the crime was heinous atrocious and cruel; and the crime was cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R2. 366-76).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the death sentence, but struck the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor because the evidence was insufficient to establish the aggravator. Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96, 104 (Fla. 1996).

#### B. THE POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

## 1. The Undisclosed Exculpatory Evidence

During the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Geralds' introduced 52 documentary exhibits and a photograph in support of his claims. Based upon the testimony provided by the trial prosecutor it is indisputable that many handwritten notes were not disclosed to Mr. Geralds' trial counsel. Additionally, FDLE notes and reports were not disclosed.

As to the notes, the trial prosecutor specifically testified that he did not believe he disclosed Defense Exhibits 1, 7, 11, 13, 16, 23, 28 (PC-R. 2303). Furthermore, he testified that Defense Exhibits 31, 32, 34, which consisted on handwritten notes by FDLE analysts, were not disclosed (PC-R. 2701).

Additionally, reports from Analysts Ziegler, dated April 3, 1989, and Smith, dated January 25, 1990 were not disclosed.

See R. 2242-7, 2263, 2267, 2275-80, 2283-93, 2325, 2331, 2335-7.

The notes that were not disclosed dealt with several trial issues, including the victim's family's description of the jewelry that was missing following the crime; the descriptions did not include a herringbone necklace similar to the one obtained from Danford at the pawn shop. <sup>5</sup> See Def. Ex.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>One of the 52 documentary exhibits was trial counsel's file which has not yet been sent to this Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Blythe testified in her deposition that law enforcement informed her that they wanted her to travel to the pawn shop

1. Also, the Bucci sunglasses that were obtained from Vicky Ward were not included on the list of missing items. Id.

After Mr. Geralds was arrested on March 1, 1989, and a pair of sunglasses were recovered from Ms. Ward, law enforcement "updated" the list of missing items to include a pair of red Bucci sunglasses. Id. However, the herringbone necklace that was obtained later that day was still not identified as being missing. Id.

Also, in regard to the herringbone necklace, notes were not disclosed of an interview with Tony Swoboda, a jeweler, which occurred on January 26, 1990, three days before Mr. Geralds' capital trial commenced. Swoboda confirmed to law enforcement that he had previously sold Mr. Geralds' a herringbone necklace "under the table".

with them because they had recovered the herringbone necklace that the family had identified as missing. <u>See</u> Defense Ex. 3. However, the herringbone necklace that was recovered did not match the description of the missing herringbone necklace.

<sup>6</sup>Trial counsel was aware of Swoboda because Mr. Geralds had informed him that he had received the herringbone necklace from him prior to the crimes (Def. Ex. 5). And, Inv. Jimmerson's told trial counsel that he was aware of information that Swoboda had previously sold Mr. Geralds the herringbone necklace (Def. Ex. 48). However, the interview with Swoboda did not occur until after Inv. Jimmerson's deposition. Indeed, as of January 3, 1990, no one had yet spoken to Swoboda to confirm Mr. Geralds' statement (Def. Ex. 50).

<sup>7</sup>The trial prosecutors conceded that Mr. Geralds' purchase of a chain "under the table" could explain why he would ask Danford if the chain was real when it was pawned (PC-R. 2245, 2347).

Indeed, Swoboda testified at the evidentiary hearing that he knew Mr. Geralds and that he had fixed a couple of pieces of jewelry for him over the years and sold him a gold herringbone necklace (PC-R. 2546). Swoboda sold Mr. Geralds the chain several months before the crimes at issue (PC-R. 2547).

Likewise, a note indicating that a pawn ticket had been recovered from Mr. Geralds' wallet on March 8, 1989, conflicted with testimony from witnesses who told the jury that the necklace was recovered on March 1, 1989. And, the records obtained from the jail also failed to reflect that Mr. Geralds had a wallet when he was arrested (Def. Ex. 46).

The trial prosecutor also testified that notes from witness interviews concerning Pelton's alibi were not disclosed. The notes revealed that in fact no one could provide an alibi for Pelton the day of the crimes. See Def. Ex. 13. This information was not disclosed to trial counsel in a written report and it was contrary to Inv. Jimmerson's testimony and report. See R2. 422.

Based on the notes, David Meadows testified at the evidentiary hearing. Meadows was Pelton's supervisor at the time of the crimes (PC-R. 2325). Meadows testified that his employees' time records were not always accurate, but "would [note] the hours they were credited with working that day but any time during the course of those hours, depending on who that person was and what their needs might have been, they

could come and go from the club." (PC-R. 2328). As to Mr. Pelton, Meadows recalled that he had freedom to "come and go" (Id.). Meadows also confirmed that while renovating Club La Vela, plastic ties were used to bind cables (PC-R. 2330).

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