IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARK ALLEN GERALDS,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-761

STATE of FLORIDA,

Appellee.___/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

RONALD A. LATHAN, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0018477 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

PAGE(S)

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

<u>58</u>

trial, R.(G.P.), 2265-2266, and then sought and obtained authority to hire an investigator upon remand from the Florida Supreme Court for a new penalty phase. R.(P.P.), 264-265, 278, respectively. Geralds made no showing that counsel failed to hire such investigators, and/or, through their investigation, information was discovered that should have been provided to Geralds' mental health expert. Defendant fails to acknowledge that he had previously been evaluated by another expert, in preparation for the original trial. <u>See</u> R.(G.P.), 2471-2473; <u>see also id</u>. at 2264. Dr. McClaren met with defendant on three different occasions (July 15, 1989; July 31, 1989; January 17, 1990), for a total period of thirteen hours. <u>Id</u>. at 2473. According to Dr. McClaren's "Statement," he provided the following service:

Forensic psychological evaluation of Mark Geralds. The evaluation included three separate interviews with Mr. Geralds including psychometric testing in the form of the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory and the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale _ Revised. Investigation reports in regard to the allegations against the defendant were inspected. Jail staff familiar with his jail adjustment were briefly interviewed in regard to his jail adjustment. A written report was provided to the defendant's public defender.

<u>Id</u>. Geralds has not put into evidence what findings were made by Dr. McClaren and did not contend that counsel was ineffective in respect to the earlier mental health evaluation. Geralds fails to establish that counsel performed deficiently under *Strickland*.

<u>59</u>

Nor does the fact that eleven years later Dr. Beller received additional information leading him to conclude that as a child defendant probably would have been diagnosed with ADHD, (Vol. XXII, PCR 2569, that by a relative's report one of Geralds' family members had been diagnosed with a mental illness, id. at 2583-84, and that one of defendant's teachers at some unknown time had suggested that he see a psychiatrist, id. at 2584, establish prejudice where Dr. Beller's diagnoses of antisocial personality disorder and bipolar disorder did not change from that previously made in preparation for resentencing. Id. at 2583. As compared to the above scant additional information he received for the purpose of re-evaluating Geralds for the postconviction proceeding, as well as having conducted a test that was not available in 1992, id. at 2583, Dr. Beller performed the following tests upon Geralds prior to the resentencing: "the Minnesota Multi-phasic Personality Inventory, otherwise known as the MMPI, the Rorschack Ink Blot test, the Thematic Appreciation Test, the Trait Anxiety Inventory, the Rust Test of Schizotypical Cognition and a clinical interview." P.P.Tr, Vol. VI, at 394. Moreover, Dr. Beller had at the time of his information from Geralds' initial evaluation that he was "significantly depressed probably starting about the age of 9 or 10 . . . [a]nd had developed already emotional problems by that age," id. at 401-402, and "[h]e describe[d] his mother as having

emotional problems." <u>Id</u>. at 402. That information is practically no different from the lay testimony of family members and friends presented at the 3.851 evidentiary hearing, except as to the statement that one of Geralds' teachers at some unknown time had suggested that he see a psychiatrist and that Geralds did not do well in school and dropped out. <u>Compare</u> (Vol. XXI, PCR 2433-37) (Lisa Johnson, older sister); <u>id</u>. at PCR 2442-44 (Vicki McCann (formerly Vicki Ward)); (Vol. XXII, PCR 2528-30)(Kenneth Scott Hobbs, a friend).

Defendant has failed to establish Strickland prejudice.

IV. THE POST-CONVICTION TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY DENYING GERALDS CLAIM REGARDING NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE; THEREFORE, HE WAS NOT DENIED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS UNDER FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS

Geralds relies upon the proceedings in an unrelated case for the proposition that the testimony Dr. Lauridson was impeachable. To recall, Dr. Lauridson testified at the resentencing hearing in the place of Dr. Sybers. Sybers, who performed the autopsy on Tressa Pettibone, was not called to testify at the resentencing hearing; Lauridson did. Sybers was facing criminal charges related to the death of his wife.

Geralds cites the testimony of Michael Stone, a former Assistant Public Defender, who testified at an evidentiary hearing in an unrelated case, State v. Orme, Bay County Case No. 92-442.

<u>61</u>

See Appellant's Brief 70-71. Stone testified that because of the criminal charges that Sybers, and agreement was reached between the Public Defender's Office and State Attorney's Office that Sybers would not be called as a witness in those cases where he had been the medical examiner. Geralds relies on Stone's testimony for the proposition that had he been aware of an "agreement" between Public Defender's Office, Sybers, and the State Attorney's Office, he (Geralds) could have impeached the testimony of Lauridson.

The Florida Supreme Court has set forth the following standard governing the consideration of claims of newly discovered evidence:

In order to qualify as newly discovered evidence, the evidence "must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence." Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 916 (Fla. 1991) (quoting Hallman v. State, 371 So. 2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1979)). If this test is met, the court must next consider whether the newly discovered evidence is of such a nature as to probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Id. at 915. Additionally, we have said that newly discovered evidence, by its very nature, is evidence that existed but was unknown at the time of the prior proceedings. See Porter v. State, 653 So. 2d 374, 380 (Fla. 1995).

Wright v. State, 857 So. 2d 861, 870-871 (Fla. 2003), <u>cert</u>. denied, 541 U.S. 961 (2004).

First, the State would note that any reliance by Geralds upon testimony from Michael Stone, a former Assistant Public Defender in an unrelated case, is entirely inappropriate.

As to the merits of Geralds claim alleging newly discovered evidence, he fails to address the fact that while the Orme hearing, was held in December, 1991, Geralds' new penalty phase was not held until March, 1993. Geralds offers no basis to establish that he could not have known of the facts testified to by Mr. Stone in Orme's postconviction case.

In addition, Geralds ignores that when Stone appeared on his behalf at the evidentiary hearing, (Vol XXI, PCR 2403-30), he was unable to testify that there was an agreement between the Public Defenders' Office and the State Attorney's Office to preclude criminal defendant's from inquiring into such an alleged agreement that would create an inability to impeach Dr. Sybers' prior results or testimony. (Vol XXI, PCR 2424). And even if the testimony from the Orme case is properly before this Court, which the State does not concede, Geralds neglects to acknowledge that his trial counsel, Adams, did object to Dr. Lauridson testifying, whereas in the Orme case, Mr. Stone had resigned prior to trial. Orme, Case No. 92-442, December 12, 2001 Hearing Transcript, at 81. Nor does there appear to be any indication in the Orme case that Dr. Lauridson was subject to deposition, whereas Geralds' trial counsel did depose Dr. Lauridson, on January 18, 1993. And finally, Geralds does not address the fact that, as found by the Florida Supreme Court:

there was no potential taint from Dr. Lauridson basing

his opinion on the materials Dr. Sybers prepared and compiled because Dr. Lauridson based his independent conclusions largely on the objective evidence. Dr. Lauridson arrived at his conclusions by reviewing: (1) two to three hundred Kodachrome slides taken at the murder scene and during the autopsy; (2) written records prepared by Dr. Sybers; and (3) Dr. Sybers' previous testimony he offered in this case. Given the wealth of objective evidence (i.e., the slides) upon which Dr. Lauridson based his opinions, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Dr. Lauridson to testify.

Geralds, 674 So. 2d at 100.

Accordingly, Geralds makes no showing that the alleged, unsupported collusion between the State Attorney's Office and the Public Defenders' Office "is of such a nature as to probably produce an acquittal on retrial."

V. THE POST-CONVICTION TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DENIED GRANTING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING AS TO SEVERAL OF GERALDS CLAIMS; ACCORDINGLY, GERALDS WAS NOT DENIED DUE PROCESS NOR WERE HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS IMPINGED¹⁰

¹⁰The claims referenced in Section V of Geralds brief were summarily denied by the post-conviction trial court and therefore were not considered in the trial court's final order denying Geralds' claims for post-conviction relief.

Respectfully, Section V - related to those claims that were not made a part of the evidentiary hearing - are procedurally barred from this Court's consideration. See Ziegler v. State, 2007 Fla. LEXIS 1142, *8 n. 1 (Fla. June 28, 2007) ("[C]laims that the trial court excluded from consideration at the evidentiary hearing are procedurally barred"). Nevertheless, the State will briefly address his claims.

A. THE POST-CONVICTION EVIDENTIARY COURT RULED APPROPRIATELY WHEN IT DENIED GERALDS' SUPPLEMENTAL 3.851 MOTIONS

Geralds opines that the post-conviction trial court erroneously denied two separate supplemental 3.851 motions. The supplemental motions were intended further amend his Motion for Relief. Appellant's Brief at 74. As Geralds notes in his briefing, his first supplemental 3.851 motion dovetailed with his earlier clams that his counsel was ineffective under *Strickland*, *supra*; and, additionally, that the State violated the principles of *Brady*, *supra* by withholding exculpatory evidence that was germane towards putting forth a viable defense.

The first supplemental 3.851 motion raised the following claims: 1) the State had not provided Geralds' with the entirety of his public records requests; 2) the State failed to disclose discovery in law enforcement's possession related to other potential suspects in the murder of Pettibone; 3) information related to an unnamed individual's confession to the crime was not disclosed; 5) Geralds' counsel was ineffective because he failed to adequately investigate potential mitigation; and 6) allegedly impermissible hearsay evidence was presented during the penalty phase hearing in contravention of *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). (Vol. VIII, PCR 1449-77). The post-conviction trial court summarily denied Geralds first supplemental 3.851 motion.

This Court has previously articulated the standard for summarily denying a post-conviction motion, explaining "that 'a defendant is entitled to a postconviction evidentiary hearing unless (1) the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is not entitled to any relief, or (2) the motion or a particular claim *is legally insufficient.*" *Garcia v. State*, 948 So. 2d 980, 989 (Fla. 2006) (quoting *Freeman v. State*, 761 So. 2d 1055, 1061 (Fla. 2000)) (emphasis added).

As noted, following a *Huff*¹¹ hearing, the post-conviction trial court denied Geralds' motion for a evidentiary hearing. The trial court observed that most of the summarily denied claims lacked some measure of substantive facts. For example, the court rejected Geralds' assertion that there was evidence available to Geralds' counsel, and/or law enforcement, that someone other than Geralds was responsible for the murder of Pettibone.

The trial court noted that, based on the allegations contained in Geralds 3.851 motion, he had failed to demonstrate a cognizable error under either *Brady* or *Strickland*. The trial court noted that the onus is on Geralds to establish the requisite elements of a *Brady* claim; but that, he did not propound anything more than

¹¹ Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

very generalized claims. See (Vol. IX, PCR 1530-31); see also Arbalaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 915 (Fla. 2000) ("Where a motion lacks sufficient factual allegations . . . the motion may be summarily denied).

In Geralds second supplemental motion (Vol. IX, PCR 1610-24), he again argued that law enforcement had ignored other leads regarding who was responsible for the murder of Tressa Pettibone. Geralds observed that, two days after the murder of Pettibone, law enforcement was presented with evidence that an individual named Warren Cash may have been responsible for the crime. Geralds argues that had the defense been afforded information related to Cash's potential involvement in the murder, this would have proven beneficial to his defense.

The claim, relating to Warren Cash's involvement in the murder, was without merit, and the post-conviction trial court was warranted in its summary denial. This Court has well-understood that "[t]he State [is] not required to provide defense counsel every piece of evidence regarding other suspects." *Guzman v. State*, 679 So. 2d 736, 739 (Fla. 1996). If law enforcement stopped pursuing other leads once Geralds became a suspect, this was appropriate; he was responsible for the crime.

Despite his efforts to denigrate, ignore, or minimize *all* of the evidence presented against him, recall: 1) he pawned a necklace

belonging to Pettibone which contained the presence of blood evidence consistent with Pettibone; 2) electric plastic ties found at the crime scene were also located in the trunk of Geralds car; 3) Geralds gave a pair of distinct Red Bucci sunglasses - which had belonged to Pettibone - to Vicky Ward; 4) a shoeprint that was found at the crime scene was consistent in size and tread to sneakers belonging to Geralds. Thus, there was significant inculpatory evidence tying Geralds to the very brutal murder of Tressa Pettibone, and his assertions to the contrary are simply without merit.

B. Geralds Remaining Claims¹² are Without Merit and The Summary Denial of These Claims was Appropriate

First, Geralds opines that it was inappropriate to allow the testimony of Billy Danford and Vicky Ward's from the guilt phase, to be read to the jury during the resentencing hearing. As Geralds concedes, Danford and Ward were unavailable to testify at the resentencing hearing. As is well-recognized, under Florida law,

¹² For example, Geralds raises an argument that Adams was ineffective during the resentencing hearing because he allowed Investigator Jimmerson to testify "inaccurately." Apppellant's Brief at 87-88. He concedes however, that no objection was raised to Jimmerson's testimony. The Florida Supreme Court has routinely recognized that absent fundamental error, a claim which has not been objected to, is not preserved, and therefore, may not be raised on appeal. See, e.g., Rodgers v. State, 934 So. 2d 1207, 1217 (Fla. 2006); Archer v. State, 934 So. 1187, 1205-06 (Fla. 2006) Spann v. State, 857 So. 2d 845, 852 (Fla. 2003); Conahan v. State, 844 So. 2d 629, 641 (Fla. 2003).

the previous testimony of an unavailable witness may be read into the record in the same or different proceeding, provided the testimony being read was subjected to some means of crossexamination. See Fla. Stat. § 90.804(2)(a). Because Ward and Danford's testimony was subjected to cross-examination during the guilt phase, it was permissible for their testimony to be read during the resentencing hearing.

Additionally, Geralds argues that the State raised a number of constitutionally impermissible arguments during its closing at both the guilt phase and during the resentencing hearing. See Appellant's Brief 92-95. Notwithstanding the fact that Geralds claims are without merit, he faces an equally daunting hurdle - his claims should have been raised on direct appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, *Knight v. State*, 923 So. 2d 387, 393 n. 6 (Fla. 2005) (finding that Knight's claim that the State raised improper arguments during its closing argument, was a procedurally barred claim that should have been raised on direct appeal).

Accordingly, the post-conviction trial court appropriately found that Geralds foregoing claims were procedurally barred, therefore these claims should be rejected.

VI. FLORIDA'S METHOD OF EXECUTION IS CONSTITUTIONAL

Geralds briefly argues that Florida's method of execution lethal injection - is constitutionally infirm. However, this Court

recently held that Florida's lethal injection protocols comported with the Eighth Amendment's dictates. *See Lightbourne v. McCollum*, 2007 Fla. LEXIS 2255, *76 (Fla. Nov. 1, 2007) ("Lightboure has failed to overcome the presumption of deference we give to the executive branch in fulfilling its obligations, and he has failed to show that there is any cruelty inherent in the method of execution provided for under the current procedures.").

Accordingly, this claim must fail.

CONCLUSION

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